## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER 70,574

LAZARO DESVERGUNDT, Plaintiff/Petitioner

vs.

KOPPERS COMPANY, INC. a/k/a HOOPER MANUFACTURER, INC., Defendant/Respondent

> PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL THIRD DISTRICT, CASE NO. 86-2833

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

GERALD E. ROSSER, P.A. Attorney for Petitioner 1110 Brickell Avenue, Suite 406 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 368-5460 HERMAN M. KLEMICK, ESQ. Attorney for Petitioner 1953 S.W. 27th Avenue Miami, Florida 33145 (305) 856-4577

#

#### **INTRODUCTION**

In this brief the parties will be referred to by name or as they stood before the circuit court: DESVERGUNDT/Plaintiff (Appellant below); KOPPERS/Defendant (Apellee below). References to the Appendix will be by the letter "A".

References to the Record before the lower tribunal will be by the letter "R" and a page number corresponding the the circuit court's pagination of the record; documents in the circuit court record will be described by name to avoid confusion. No record has yet been filed by the Clerk of the lower tribunal, nor is it due until July 20, 1987.

Numerous decisions by the District Courts are in accord with the decision presented for review. Most of those decisions contain certified questions similar, if not identical, to the questions presented in this Petition. The decisions of which the undersigned is aware are listed here, Petitioner does not know which, if any, of them have been brought to this Court for review. Unless cited in the body of this brief, the decisions listed here are not listed in the table of auathorities.

Clausell v. Hobart Corp., \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 1224 (Fla. 3d DCA May 12, 1987); Keyes v. Fulton Mfg. Corp., \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 1164 (Fla. 3d DCA May 5, 1987); Manuel v. E I G Cutlery, Inc., \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 1161 (Fla. 3d DCA May 5, 1987); Willer v. Pierce, \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 1122 (Fla. 4th DCA April 29, 1987); Lazo v. Baring Ind., Inc., \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 1021 (Fla. 3d DCA April 14, 1987); Shaw v. General Motors Corp., \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 847 (Fla. 3d DCA March 24, 1987)(substituted opinion); Coggins v. Clark Equip. Co., \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 750 (Fla. 5th DCA March 12, 1987); Wallis v. The Grumman Corp., \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 613 (Fla. 3d DCA February 24, 1987); Melendez v. Dreis & Krump Mfg. Co., \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 554 (Fla. 3d DCA February 17, 1987); Dominguez v. Bucyrus-Erie Co., \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 546 (Fla. 3d DCA February 11, 1987); Shaw v. General Motors Corp., \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 487

(Fla. 3d DCA February 10, 1987)(original opinion); Brackenridge v. Ametek, Inc., \_\_\_\_\_
So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 479 (Fla. 3d DCA February 10, 1987); Lane v. Koehring Co.,
\_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 478 (Fla. 3d DCA February 10, 1987); Small v. Niaagara
Machine & Tool Works, \_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 366 (Fla. 2d DCA January 20,
1987); Pait v. Ford Motor Co., 500 So.2d 743 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987); Cassidy v.
Firestone Tire & Rubber Co., 495 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); American Liberty Ins.
Co. v. West and Conyers, 491 So.2d 573 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986)(decided before repeal of §95.031(2) Fla. Stat.).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Plaintiff filed a products liability suit on January 23, 1985. (R1-3) In his Complaint he alleged various products liability theories, alleging that Defendant KOPPERS manufactured a Hooper Printer Slotter which injured him on April 12, 1982. (R1-3) Defendant interposed the products liability statute of repose, §95.031(2) Florida Statutes (1983), as a defense. (R10-11)

Defendant sought summary judgment based on the statute of repose as revitalized by the decision of this Court in *Pullum v. Cincinnati, Inc.*, 476 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1985). (R12-16) The affidavit of a representative of Defendant was filed which indicated that the offending machine had been sold by Defendant on April 27, 1954, and delivered on May 7, 1954. (R12-16) The motion was granted and summary judgment entered. (R30-31) A motion for rehearing was filed (R21), and supplemented when the legislature repealed the products liability statute of repose on July 1, 1986. (R23-26) The motion for rehearing was denied. (R32)

The lower tribunal affirmed the summay judgment, *Desvergundt v. Koppers Co., Inc.*, \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 1108 (Fla. 3d DCA, April 28, 1987). (A17-18) In

affirming, the lower tribunal certified two questions as being of great public importance:

I. WHETHER THE LEGISLATIVE AMENDMENT OF SECTION 95.031(2) FLORIDA STATUTES (1983), ABOLISHING THE STATUTE OF REPOSE IN PRODUCTS LIABILITY ACTIONS, SHOULD BE CONSTRUED TO OPERATE RETROSPECTIVELY AS TO A CAUSE OF ACTION WHICH ACCRUED BEFORE THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE AMENDMENT.

II. IF NOT, WHETHER THE DECISION OF <u>PULLUM V. CINCINNATI, INC.</u>, 476 SO.2D 657 (FLA. 1985), <u>APPEAL DISMISSED</u>, U.S. ...., 106 S.CT. 1626, 90 L.ED.2D 174 (1986), WHICH OVERRULED <u>BATTILLA V. ALLIS CHALMERS</u> <u>MFG. CO.</u>, 392 SO.2D 874 (FLA. 1980), APPLIES SO AS TO BAR A CAUSE OF ACTION THAT ACCRUED BEFORE THE <u>PULLUM</u> DECISION.

Accordingly, the decision of the lower tribunal is presented here for review upon

the two certified questions.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

LEGISLATIVE Ι. WHETHER THE AMENDMENT OF SECTION 95.031(2) FLORIDA STATUTES (1983), ABOLISHING THE STATUTE OF REPOSE IN PRODUCTS SHOULD LIABILITY ACTIONS, BE CONSTRUED ΤO OPERATE RETROSPECTIVELY AS TO A CAUSE OF ACTION WHICH ACCRUED BEFORE THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE AMENDMENT.

II. IF NOT, WHETHER THE DECISION OF *PULLUM v. CINCINNATI, INC.*, 476 SO.2D 657 (FLA. 1985), appeal dismissed, \_\_\_\_U.S. \_\_\_, 106 S.CT. 1626, 90 L.ED.2D 174 (1986), WHICH OVERRULED *BATTILLA v. ALLIS CHALMERS MFG. CO.*, 392 SO.2D 874 (FLA. 1980), APPLIES SO AS TO BAR A CAUSE OF ACTION THAT ACCRUED BEFORE THE *PULLUM* DECISION.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The repeal of the products liability statute of repose, §95.031(2) Fla. Stat. (1983), on July 1, 1986, by Ch. 86-272 §2, Laws of Florida, was a legislative response to the revitalization of the statute by this Court in *Pullum v. Cincinnati, Inc.*, 476 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1985). After this Court declared that the statute violated article I, §21 of the Florida Constitution by denying access to the courts, *Battilla v. Allis Chalmers Mfg. Co.*, 392 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1980), the legislature did not respond, as it did with this Court's similar declaration as to the improvements to realty statute of repose, §95.11(3)(c) Fla. Stat., *Overland Constr. Co. v. Sirmons*, 369 So.2d 572 (Fla. 1979), by immediately re-enacting the law. Ch. 80-323, Laws of Florida. Accordingly, this Court should view the repeal as a declaration of public policy and remedial, and declare that the repeal has retrospective application, and that therefore the statute of repose cannot be imposed in the instant case.

This Court's decision in *Pullum* should not be applid retroactively to causes of

action which arose, or were filed, or both, after the decision in *Batilla*. Again, the inactivity of the legislature in response to the declaration of invalidity of the statute, and the swift repeal of the statute after it was revitalized by this Court, should guide the decision as to retroactive application *vel non* of *Pullum*.. This Court should consider the causes of action which arose after *Batilla* to be property rights which are not to be destroyed by retrospective operation of the later decision. *Florida Forest and Parks Services v*. *Strickland*, 154 Fla. 472, 18 So.2d 251 (1944).

#### ARGUMENT ON ISSUE I

Florida's product liability statute of repose was enacted in 1975 by Ch. 74-382, §3, Laws of Florida. From the time of its enactment until this Court's decision in *Pullum*, there appear to be no decisions holding it valid where it operated to cut off an action before it had accrued thus denying access to the courts. That the statute would be declared invalid under such circumstances became a virtual certainty when this Court decided *Overland Constr. Co. v. Sirmons*, 369 So.2d 572 (Fla. 1979), partially invalidating the improvements to realty statute of repose. §95.11(3)(c) Fla. Stat. In fact, at least one trial court anticipated *Battilla*.. *See, Home Ins. Co. v. Advance Machine Co.*, 500 So.2d 664 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) (trial court refused to grant summary judgment to product liaiblity defendants).

Thus, the period of time during which sellers of products in Florida could reasonably expect to protected by a statute of repose against causes of action such as the one at bar was barely four years. Prior to 1975 there was no product liability statute of repose, and after 1979, the constitutional issue was plain. Accordingly, products manufacturers and sellers knew, except for that brief interval, that potential litigation from defective products was co-extensive in time with the useful life of their products. From

1979 (*Overland*), or, at the very latest, 1980 (*Battilla*), manufacturers and other sellers of products had no reasonable expectation of protection from claims arising more than twelve years after the original sale.

After *Battilla*, product manufacturers and sellers, including Defendant KOPPERS, were no worse off than they had been for centuries under the common law. There was no statute of repose in 1954, when KOPPERS sold and delivered the machine involved here. KOPPERS never relied on the statute of repose in its planning. The entire brief history of the statute came and went without any rights vesting in KOPPERS under the act.

The as yet undecided, at least by this Court, question whether *Pullum* operates to extend the "useful" life of the statute of repose to those causes of action which arose during the period of its putative invalidity, argued further below, has been mooted by the legislature. In its failure to respond to *Battilla*, as it did to *Overland*, for five legislative sessions, and in its immediate response to *Pullum* in repealing the product liability statute of repose, the legislature has declared the public policy of Florida.

Whether legislative enactments are to be given retrospective application is answered very simply: it depends. This Court has said that the presumption is against retrospective application where the legislature "has not in clear and explicit language expressed an intention that the statute be so applied." *Foley v. Morris*, 339 So.2d 215 (Fla. 1976).

This Court has also said that the repeal of an existing act is to be retrospectively applied even after judgment during appellate proceedings. *Tel Service Co., Inc. v. General Capital Corp.*, 227 So.2d 667 (Fla. 1969). In *Yaffee v. International Co., Inc.*, 80 So.2d 910 (Fla. 1955) this Court stated that the retrospective application of repealing statutes is limited to situations where a "right or remedy" has been created wholly by statute "when the statute is repealed the right or remedy created by the statute falls with it."

at 912.

There is no reason why a "right or remedy" as referred to in *Yaffee* may not be a defensive matter rather than a cause of action. In *Yaffee* this Court said that repealing statutes restorative of the common law are to be given retrospective effect. In *Carr v. Crosby Builders Supply Co., Inc.,* 283 So.2d 60 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973), the court held that the repeal of the automobile guest passenger statute, *after* trial and judgment for defendant, applied to the appeal of that cause. Repeal of the auto guest passenger statute was, of course, restorative of the common law.

Similarly, statutes of repose were unknown at common law. §95.031(2) gave product sellers a "right or remedy" unknown at common law: the right to be free of lawsuits more than twelve years after delivery of the product. Repeal of the statute took away that right found only in the statute. Accordingly, the rule of retrospective application of repealing statutes is applicable. The statute of repose was also in derogation of the right of access to the courts guaranteed by the Florida Constitution. This Court said so explicitly in *Batilla*, and implicitly in *Pullum*, although, of couse, holding in the latter decision that the statute did not *invalidly* infringe on the constitutional right.

Another basis on which this Court could, and should, determine that the repeal of §95.031(2) is retroactive is that the repeal is a remedial enactment. As noted above, the legislature was content to make no effort to reenact the product liability statute of repose after this Court's declaration of its invalidity in *Battilla*.. After this Court receded from *Battilla* in *Pullum*, the legislature, in its very next session, moved to remedy the harsh effect of the statute of repose by repealing it entirely.

In *City of Orlando v. Desjardins*, 493 So.2d 1027 (Fla. 1986) this Court retrospectively applied §119.07(3)(o) Fla. Stat. to protect the litigation file of an attorney representing the city. The court noted that the developing caselaw affording public bodies

no protection for their litigation files prompted the enactment, and that the legislation was therfore remedial and retroactive in application. In *Village of El Portal v. City of Miami Shores*, 362 So.2d 275 (Fla. 1978), this Court held the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act to be remedial and thus applicable to causes of action which arose before its enactment. In *Grammer v. Roman*, 174 So.2d 443 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965), the court stated that a remedial act is one which confers a remedy, a remedy being "the means employed in enforcing a right or redressing an injury." The repeal of the statute of repose conferred a remedy, it provided the means for redress of injuries previously barred by the statute of repose, it also restored constitutionally mandated access to the courts. It can and should be retroactively applied.

This Court should hold squarely that Ch. 86-272, §2, Laws of Florida is a repeal of the products liability statute of repose and is to be given retrospective effect. This Court has already characterized the act as a repeal. *See*, *Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. v. Phlieger*, \_\_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(S.Ct.) 256 (Fla. May 28, 1987), footnote 2. To give the repeal retroactive effect would be in accord with existing rules of statutory construction and application. No vested rights would be interfered with, since it is hard to fathom that products sellers came to "count" on the statute in any legally cognizable way in the eleven months between *Pullum* and the repeal. The effect of the repeal of the statute, even prospectively, points up the sophistry of any argument that product sellers would be seriously compromised by retrospective application. Any individual injured by a product on or after July 1, 1986, may maintain a suit for damages no matter the antiquity of the product. In light of that exposure, any potential harm done by retrospective application of the repeal pales into insignificance.

The decision of the lower tribunal was based on its own prior decision in *Shaw v*. General Motors Corp., \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 847 (Fla. 3d DCA March 24, 1987).

The Third District there held that the repeal of §95.031(2) Fla. Stat. (1983) as it applied to the products liability statute of repose, had no effect on the plaintiff's suit there. The court cited decisions adhering to the general rule that without express legislative intent for retrospective application, amendments to statutes operate prospectively only. The court did not discuss the exception to that rule which applies where repealed statutes confer a right or remedy, and thus the repeal operates retrospectively. *Yaffee, supra*; *Carr v. Crosby Builders Supply, supra*. As argued above, an analysis of those decisions leads to the conclusion that the repeal of the product liability statute of repose should be given retrospective application.

In his special concurrence in *Dominguez v. Bucyrus-Erie Co.*, \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 12 FLW(D) 546 (Fla. 3d DCA February 11, 1987), Judge Ferguson, indicating he would dissent but for the court's precedent in *Shaw v. General Motors Corp.*, *supra*, wrote, calling the repeal of the product liability statute of repose "a prompt legislative overruling of *Pullum*.":

We are not paralyzed, by policy or precedent, from giving the corrective legislation retrospective application to a case which was sandwiched between *Battilla* and *Pullum*, so that substantial justice and right shall prevail as contemplated by the constitution. Our duty as an appellate court construing a statute is first to reconcile it with constitutional mandates. *See Biggs v. Smith*, 134 Fla. 569, 184 So. 106 (1938) ("The duty is on this Court to see that substantial justice and right shall prevail.")

This Court should heed Judge Ferguson's call for justice, and follow the lead of his special concurrence

### ARGUMENT ON ISSUE II

If the Court should reject the argument that the repeal of the product liability statute of repose should be given retrospective effect, then the Court should hold that *Pullum* is prospective only in application. Much of the argument above would be equally applicable here, and is adopted without being repeated. The Court should adopt the reasoning of Justice Grimes's special concurrence in *Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. v. Phlieger, supra*, to the extent that it argues for prospective only application of *Pullum*, because property rights, i.e., rights of action, acquired after the decision in *Battilla* must be honored. Justice Grimes's concurrence intimated that cases such as the one at bar "may" be distinguished from *Phlieger* because the cause of action accrued more than twelve years after the initial delivery of the product, and Mrs. Phlieger's cause of action accrued before expiration of the twelve years, although suit was filed afterwards. That distinction can, and should, be rejected by this Court.

A cause of action in tort is a property right within the broader definition of the term. Thus, Justice Grimes was correct in asserting that a property right was acquired by Mrs. Phlieger upon her husband's death by wrongful act. However, logic does not dictate that it is any more a cognizable property right because she forebore to exercise it immediately due to mistaken reliance on *Battilla*. In the first instance, the facts as related in the decision do not indicate that any reliance on *Battilla* dictated the filing date of the suit. In the second, a cause of action is either property, or it is not. That injustice would occur if suit were not allowed is no answer. Mrs. Phlieger had six months in which to sue. In *Lugo v. Ford Motor Co.*, 611 F.Supp. 789 (S.D. Fla. 1985), *affirmed* 791 F.2d 170 (111th Cir. 1986), reduction of the time within which the injured party could sue to four months was not considered unreasonable. In fact, were *Phlieger* not a death action, and thus distinguishable according to the majority there, the statute of repose would have barred the suit even prior to *Pullum*.

When Florida's constitutionally guaranteed right of access to the courts is considered along with the notion that a cause of action in tort is a property right, then

prospective only application of *Pullum* is the correct rule. This Court's own precedent in *Florida Forest & Park Service v. Strickland*, 154 Fla. 472, 18 So.2d 251 (1944) should be followed. Further authority can be found in *Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson*, 404 U.S. 97, 92 S.Ct. 349, 30 L.Ed.2d 296 (1971).

In *Phlieger* this Court was not confronted with the question of the retroactivity *vel non* of *Pullum*. This Court has never directly answered the question. If the repeal of the product liability statute of repose by the legislature is found to be retroactive, as it should be, then the question of retroactivity of *Pullum* is moot. If not, then the Court should adhere to the reasoning of Justice Grimes's specially concurring opinion in *Phlieger* and give *Pullum* prospective application only.

### <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The summary judgment appealed to and affirmed by the lower tribunal should be reversed with directions to reinstate Plaintiff's cause of action against Defendant KOPPERS. This should be done upon a direct holding that the repeal of the product liability statute of repose operates retrospectively as well as prospectively, or that *Pullum* operates prospectively only. Phrased another way, the first certified question should be answered in the affirmative and/or the second answered in the negative.

GERALD E. ROSSER, P.A. Attorney for Petitioner 1110 Brickell Avenue, Suite 406 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 358-5460

Jun By:<u>८</u> Gerald E. Rosser