IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 70,574

LAZARO DESVERGUNDT,

Petitioner,

vs.

KOPPERS COMPANY, INC. a/k/a HOOPER MANUFACTURER, INC.,

Respondent.

JUL 23 DOT

By Deputy Cierk

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

GEORGE, HARTZ & LUNDEEN, P.A. Suite 1111, Ingraham Building 25 S.E. Second Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 and DANIELS AND HICKS, P.A. Suite 2400, New World Tower 100 North Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33132-2513 (305) 374-8171

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida's products liability statute of repose was in effect at all times material herein and Plaintiff's action, commenced thirty-one years after the delivery of the product by the Defendant manufacturer to the original purchaser, was barred. The 1986 legislative amendment to the statute of repose has no bearing on Plaintiff's case. The legislative act amending Section 95.031(2) contains no clear expression of retroactivity and thus is effective prospectively only. Furthermore, as Plaintiff's claim was barred by Section 95.031(2) before Battilla was decided and before he instituted this action, the legislature could not revive it by subsequent legislation. The first certified question accordingly should be given a negative response.

Nor did Plaintiff acquire a property right when he was injured twenty-eight years after the Defendant sold and delivered the product in question. The 1980 Pullum decision, overruling Battilla, had the effect of rendering the statute valid from its effective date in 1975. The second certified question therefore also requires a negative response, and the decision below should be approved.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

The legislature did not expressly, clearly, and explicitly manifest its intent that Chapter 86-272 be applied retroactively. The legislation affects substantive rights and cannot be applied retroactively so as to deprive Defendant of the vested right not to be sued — The answer to the first certified question should be "no."

Section 95.031(2) was amended in 1986, four years after the Plaintiff was injured and twenty years after the expiration of the period of repose. Laws of Florida, Ch. 86-272, §2. The law is clear that "the presumption is against retroactive application of a statute where the Legislature has not expressly in clear and explicit language expressed an intention that the statute be so applied." Foley v. Morris, 339 So.2d 215, 216 (Fla. 1976). The 1986 amendment does not contain a clear and unequivocal expression of retroactivity and thus, under well-established principles of statutory construction, it applies prospectively only.

Justice Grimes aptly observed, "[i]n considering [the question of whether the 1986 amendment should be retroactively applied] the cases involving statutory changes to periods of limitation are instructive." Nissan Motor Co. v. Phlieger, 12 F.L.W. 256, 258 (Fla. May 28, 1987) (Grimes, J., specially concurring). A similar situation was presented in Homemakers, Inc. v. Gonzales, 400 So.2d 965 (Fla. 1981), where the plaintiff asked the Court to resurrect an otherwise barred cause of action on the basis of a statutory amendment extending the earlier limitations period. This Court declined the plaintiff's invitation, however, holding that because of the "absence of any express, clear or manifest legislative intent to apply [the amended statute] retroactively, we conclude that it does not apply to causes of action occurring prior to its effective date." Id. at 967 (quoting Brooks v. Cerrato, 355 So.2d 119 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978)).

Nor does Section 3 of Chapter 86-272 supply the requisite legislative intent that the amendment apply retroactively. In <u>Foley</u>, 339 So.2d at 217, this Court held that where the legislature stated only that a statute was to "take effect on July 1, 1972," the statute was to be applied prospectively only.

The reasoning of <u>Homemakers</u>, <u>Inc.</u> and <u>Foley</u> apply with equal force to the instant case. It is submitted that Justice Grimes and every District Court of Appeal have correctly interpreted Chapter 86-272 and the applicable authorities. This Court should also conclude that the 1986 amendment to Section 95.031(2) does not serve to revive Plaintiff's suit. <u>See Phlieger</u>, <u>supra</u>,

12 F.L.W. at 258 (Grimes, J., specially concurring); Small v. Niagara Machine & Tool Works, 502 So.2d 943 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Shaw v. General Motors Corp., 503 So.2d 362 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (question certified); Willer v. Pierce, 505 So.2d 441 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (question certified); Pait v. Ford Motor Co., 500 So.2d 743 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987) (question certified); see also Cassidy v. Firestone Tire & Rubber Co., 495 So.2d 801, 802 n.1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), rev. denied, 506 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 1987) (court affirmed summary judgment in favor of defendant, noting amendment).

Plaintiff seeks refuge from the "general rule against retrospective application of statutes," L. Ross, Inc. v. R.W. Roberts Construction Co., 481 So.2d 484 (Fla. 1986), by characterizing Chapter 86-272 as a "remedial enactment" which merely divests a defendant of a statutorily created "right or remedy." Initial Brief of Petitioner on the Merits, at 10-12. Plaintiff's argument, however, reveals a fundamental misunderstanding of the nature of a statute of repose and the rights acquired thereunder when the period has expired.

"understandably considered beneficial, curative, and remedial."

L. Ross, Inc. v. R. W. Roberts Construction Co., 466 So.2d 1096,

1097 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), approved, 481 So.2d 484 (Fla. 1986).

That does not end the retroactivity inquiry, however. As the Fifth District has observed, enactments such as the 1986 amendment can easily be viewed as remedial and procedural, on the one hand, or substantive and penal, on the other, "depending on whose

ox is being gored." 466 So.2d 1097. Legislation thus is not automatically deemed retroactive simply because, from the Plaintiff's perspective the enactment is remedial.

Plaintiff's "remedial enactment" argument is premised on the erroneous assumption that former Section 95.031(2) and, a fortiori, Chapter 86-272, merely alter or modify a remedy. Statutes of repose, however, do not alter or modify remedies. Instead, such statutes "define[] substantive rights to bring an action." Colony Hill Condominium Ass'n v. Colony Co., 70 N.C.App. 390, 320 S.E.2d 273, 276 (1984), rev. denied, 312 N.C. 796, 325 S.E.2d 485 (1985); Rosenberg v. Town of North Bergen, 61 N.J. 190, 293 A.2d 662 (1972). To apply the 1986 amendment retroactively accordingly would impermissibly "revive a liability already extinguished, and not merely restore a lapsed remedy." Colony Hill, 320 S.E.2d at 276.

The Court's recent decision in <u>L. Ross, Inc. v. R.W.</u>

<u>Roberts Construction Co.</u>, 481 So.2d 484 (Fla. 1986), <u>approving</u>,

466 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), is helpful. There an insured had an action pending against an insurance company for payment on a bond when the legislature repealed a limitation on the amount of recoverable statutory attorney's fees. Over plaintiff's objection, the trial court limited the plaintiff's recovery of attorney's fees to 12-1/2% of the judgment recovered pursuant to the version of the statute in force when the cause of action accrued.

On appeal the plaintiff complained that the repeal of the cap on recoverable attorney's fees should be applied retroactively because "it is procedural [and] merely confers a remedy which affects only the measure of damages for vindication of an existing substantive right." Id. at 1097. In resolving the retroactivity issue, the Fifth District refused to mechanically affix to the repealing legislation the "curative" and "remedial" labels. The court held that repeal of the statutory cap resulted in an increased substantive burden on the defendant and thus could not constitutionally be applied retroactively. This Court affirmed, holding that as the statutory right to attorney's fees and the correlative burden to pay them are substantive, "[a] statutory amendment affecting the substantive right and concomitant burden is likewise substantive." L. Ross, Inc., 481 So.2d at 485.

The 1986 amendment plainly goes beyond altering or modifying a remedy to vindicate an existing right. Chapter 86-272, by removing a condition precedent to the accrual of a products liability cause of action, affects the Defendant's substantive right not to be hailed into court years after the period of repose has expired. Plaintiff's "remedial enactment" argument is without merit. L. Ross, Inc., 481 So.2d at 485; Colony Hill, 320 S.E.2d at 273.

Plaintiff further contends that Section 86-272 should be retroactively applied because the statute of repose is a creature of the legislature and Section 86-272 was a repeal of that stat-

ute. Plaintiff agrees that the period of repose is not a product of the common law. The same can be said of statutes of limitations, yet the law has long been clear that once a period of limitations has expired a right vests in the defendant not to be sued. Thereafter the legislature is without power to resurrect the cause of action by either repeal or extension of the period. Six years before the product involved in the instant case was sold and delivered by the Defendant, this Court, echoing the majority of jurisdictions, held as follows:

[T]he legislature has the power to increase the period of time necessary to constitute limitation, and to make it applicable to existing causes of action, provided such change is made before the cause of action is extinguished under the preexisting statute of limitations....

Corbett v. General Engineering & Machinery Co., 37 So.2d 161, 162 (Fla. 1948); Walter, Denson & Son v. Nelson, 88 So.2d 120 (Fla. 1956); accord, Mazda Motors v. S.C. Henderson & Sons, 364 So.2d 107, 108 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), cert. denied, 378 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1979) (person has vested right in running of limitations period once it has completely run and barred the action). See generally 51 Am.Jur.2d, Limitations of Actions, §43 at 624 (footnote omitted) ("The great preponderance of authority supports the general view . . . that after a cause of action has become barred it cannot be revived by the legislature by . . . repealing the limitation statute.").

In the instant case the constitutionally valid period of repose expired years before Plaintiff was injured and the enact-

ment of Chapter 86-272. It follows that the Defendant acquired a vested right not to defend an action based on a product it delivered to the first purchaser in 1954. Section 86-272 cannot constitutionally be given retrospective effect as to this Defendant, even if the legislature had intended that it apply retroactively, and even if it is properly viewed as "remedial" legislation that repealed the statute of repose.

POINT II

The Plaintiff acquired no property or contract right when he was injured in 1982. Pullum therefore is retrospective in its application and the statute of repose was in effect at the time Plaintiff commenced this action -- The answer to the second certified question should be "no."

The Florida legislature enacted Section 95.031(2) in 1974, and it became effective on January 1, 1975. $\frac{3}{}$ (Ch. 74-382, §36, Laws of Fla.). In 1980, in a brief opinion from which three members of the Court dissented, the statute of repose was held unconstitutional on grounds that it was in contravention of the

 $[\]frac{3}{}$ Section 95.031(2) provides:

Actions for products liability and fraud under subsection (3) of Section 95.11 must be begun within the period prescribed in this chapter, with the period running from the time the facts giving rise to the cause of action were discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence, instead of running from any date prescribed elsewhere in subsection (3) of Section 95.11, but in any event within 12 years after the date of delivery of the completed product to its original purchaser or the date of the commission of the alleged fraud, regardless of the date the defect in the product or the fraud was or should have been discovered.

right to "access to the courts" provided for in Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution. <u>Battilla v. Allis Chalmers Manufacturing Co.</u>, 392 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1980). Five years later, in <u>Pullum v. Cincinnati, Inc.</u>, 476 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1985) the Court overruled <u>Battilla</u> and upheld the constitutionality of Section 95.031(2).

Pullum had the effect of revalidating the statute from its effective date in January of 1975. Florida Forest & Park Service v. Strickland, 18 So.2d 251 (Fla. 1944), mistakenly relied upon by Plaintiff, fully supports Defendant's contention that the statute of repose bars Plaintiff's suit:

Ordinarily, a decision of a court of last resort overruling a former decision is retrospective as well as prospective in its operation, unless specifically declared by the opinion to have prospective effect only. Generally speaking, therefore, a judicial construction of a statute will ordinarily be deemed to relate back to the enactment of the statute....

Id. at 253.

Plaintiff attempts to bring himself within the exception to the <u>Strickland</u> rule: i.e., where a <u>property</u> or <u>contract</u> right has been created during the interim period in which the statute was construed as unconstitutional, the rights that have been created cannot be destroyed by subsequent judicial interpretation. <u>Id</u>. Plaintiff has failed to establish, however, that he acquired any contract or property rights between 1980 and 1985. In the absence of the acquisition of a vested right in either property or contract, the Strickland exception is inapplicable.

Plaintiff offers no support for his contention that even though he was injured 28 years after the product was delivered to the original purchaser he nonetheless acquired a cause of action as the injury occurred after <u>Battilla</u>. This is understandable given the fact that well <u>before</u> that decision was handed down Defendant's potential liability had been extinguished by operation of Section 95.031(2). Simply put, <u>Battilla</u> does not alter the fact that after the statutory period had run in 1975 Plaintiff was foreclosed from ever having a cause of action against this Defendant.

No cause of action was created by the statute and <u>Battilla</u> vested in plaintiffs no cause of action. It removed the bar of the statute to plaintiffs' assertion of a cause of action. But plaintiffs had, at most, a mere expectation that they had a cause of action they could pursue, and a subsequent decision, holding the statute to be constitutional, could not and does not deprive them of any vested rights.

Eddings v. Volkswagenwerk, A.G., 635 F.Supp. 45, 47 (N.D. Fla. 1986); Lamb v. Volkswagenwerk Aktiengesellschaft, 631 F.Supp. 1144, 1149 (S.D. Fla. 1986) ("Plaintiff . . . had no vested . . . property right prior to Pullum . . . [T]he statute of repose and the lapse of the twelve-year . . . period obviated the very possibility of Plaintiff sustaining any legal injury . . . "); see also In re Will of Martell, 457 So.2d 1064, 1067 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) (substantive vested right is an immediate right of present enjoyment or present fixed right of future enjoyment); Division of Workers' Compensation v. Brevda, 420 So.2d 887, 891 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) ("To be vested, a right must be more than a mere expec-

tation based on an anticipation of the continuance of an existing law; it must have become title . . . to the present or future enforcement of demand.").

Plaintiff cannot meet the requirements of the <u>Strickland</u> exception. Having failed to establish a property or contract right acquired under <u>Battilla</u>, the <u>Pullum</u> decision applies to bar the Plaintiff's cause of action.

Plaintiff's belated reliance on Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson, 404 U.S. 97 (1971) also is misplaced. As an initial matter, Plaintiff did not bring Chevron Oil to the attention of the trial court or the Third District and, it is submitted, he should be deemed to have waived any reliance on that decision as a basis for reversal of the summary judgment. In any event, in Chevron Oil the Supreme Court formulated a three-part test for determining the retroactivity of federal decisions. In Lamb and Eddings, supra, the federal district courts emphasized that the Chevron Oil test would not be determinative as their task was to apply Florida law. Lamb, 631 F.Supp. at 1151; Eddings, 635 F.Supp. at 48; see also United States v. Estate of Donnelly, 397 U.S. 286, 297 (1970) and Taylor v. Hartford Casualty Insurance Co., 545 F.Supp. 282 (S.D. Ga. 1982) (retroactivity of state judicial decision is a question of state law). As noted above, the Florida law as to retroactivity of Florida decisions is set forth in Strickland. See also Parkway General Hospital v. Stern, 400 So.2d 166 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). Mindful of the Chevron Oil approach, this Court nonetheless has continued to adhere to the

Strickland rule. Cf. Lurie v. Florida Board of Dentistry, 288 So.2d 223 (Fla. 1973).

State courts are not bound to follow decisions of federal courts dealing with state law even decisions of the United States Supreme Court; state Supreme Courts are supreme in matters of state law. See, e.g., State v. Barquet, 262 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1972). This Court has not adopted the Chevron Oil approach which is thus simply inapplicable to Plaintiff's case. Chevron Oil is inapplicable to Plaintiff's case for another reason as well. At the time the Chevron Oil plaintiff was injured, he had a valid cause of action. In contrast, Plaintiff herein had no valid claim against the Defendant when he was injured because his claim had already been barred by the statute of repose.

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